
 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting papers 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pension Committee 
 

Friday 29 January 2016 at 10.00 am 
 

Meeting Room 6 - Shire Hall, Gloucester 
 



 

 

 

 
 



 

 

Date Published:21 January 2016       

 

Pension Committee 

 

Friday 29 January 2016 at 10.00 am 

Meeting Room 6 - Shire Hall, Gloucester 

AGENDA 

 

   

1 APOLOGIES  Stephen Bace 
 

2 MINUTES - (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 
November 2015. 
 

Stephen Bace 
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST -  
 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda. 
 
Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda. 
 

Stephen Bace 
 

4 PUBLIC QUESTIONS -  
 

To answer any written questions about matters that are within the powers 
and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 22 January 2016. 
 
To answer any oral question(s) put by members of the public. 
 
Depending on the nature of the oral questions asked it may not be 
possible to provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case 
a written answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the 
meeting. 
 

Stephen Bace 
 

5 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS -  
 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 22 January 2016. 

Stephen Bace 
 



 

 

     

 

   

6 LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME: INVESTMENT REFORM- 
CRITERIA AND GUIDANCE (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

To note the report 
 

Graham Burrow 
 

7 CONSULTATION ON REVOKING AND REPLACING THE LGPS 
(MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS) REGULATIONS 2009 
(Pages 9 - 48) 
 

To consider a response to the consultation 
 

Graham Burrow 
 

8 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

Resolved 
 

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
agenda items, because it is likely that if members of the public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information to the public. 

Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou 
 

9 THE PENSION FUND'S INITIAL PROPOSAL ON POOLING 
INVESTMENTS  
 

To consider the proposal 
 

Graham Burrow 
 

10 EXEMPT MINUTES  
 

To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the meetings held 
on 27 November 2015.  
 

Stephen Bace 
 

Membership –  Cllr David Brown, Cllr Jasminder Gill, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Shaun Parsons, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Chairman) 

Added Members - Peter Clark 

Co-Opted Member - Cllr Nigel Cooper 

 (a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns �01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting. 
 

 (b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: 
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team) 
�:01452 324204 /fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 



 

 

     

 

   

01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting. 
 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 1 - 

PENSION COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 27 November 2015 at 
the Meeting Room 1&2 - Shire Hall, Gloucester. 

 
 

PRESENT:  

 Cllr David Brown 
Cllr Jasminder Gill 
Cllr Colin Hay 
Cllr Lynden Stowe 
 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Chairman) 
Cllr Nigel Cooper 
Peter Clark 
 

Substitutes:  
 

Officers in attendance: Jo Walker, Graham Burrow, Stephen Bace and Sharon Crane 
 

Apologies: Cllr Shaun Parsons 

 
71. MINUTES -  

 
71.1 The public minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2015 were agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. subject to the following points 
raised: 
 
Cllr David Brown – to record Declaration of Interest that he was a Gloucester City 
Councillor. 
 
Cllr Colin Hay – to record Declaration of Interest that he was a trustee of 
Cheltenham Trust.  
 
Cllr Lynden Stowe - to record Declaration of Interest that he was a member of 
UBICO. 
 

72. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST -  
 
 
Cllr Brown made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Gloucester City 
Council.  
 
Cllr Cooper made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Stroud District 
Council and governor at Archway School. 
 
Cllr Hay made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Cheltenham Borough 
Council and as a trustee of Cheltenham Trust. 
 
Cllr Stowe made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Cotswold District 
Council and UBICO. 
 
Cllr Theodoulou made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Cotswold 

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 2 - 
 

District Council. 
 
Cllr Parsons made a non-prejudicial declaration as a member of Cotswold District 
Council. 
 
Peter Clark declared that he was a member of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 
 

73. PUBLIC QUESTIONS -  
 
No public questions was received.  
 

74. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS -  
 
No members’ questions were received. 
 

75. THE EXTERNAL AUDITORS REPORT FOR 2014/15  
 
Graham Burrow,  Head of Pension Fund, introduced the Grant Thornton’s report on 
the Audit Findings for Gloucestershire Pension Fund. No issues had been raised for 
the Pension Fund. 
 
The committee noted the report.      
 

76. PENSION BOARD MEETINGS  
 
76.1  Graham Burrow updated members on progress on the Pension Board 
detailing that the first meeting had taken place in July and had included a half day 
training session. A further training session was held before the October meeting.  
 
76.2  Members noted that the Board had begun to develop their work plan. 
In response to questions, it was clarified that the Board could not replace the 
Committee’s role as an executive body, but that the Committee could ask the Board 
to review and consider items for them. 
 
76.3  One member suggested that the Board might wish to consider the 
training of committee members and whether the skill set on the committee was up 
to standard. Another member suggested that the Board might wish to take a closer 
look at the committee’s work plan and risk register.  
 
76.4  The committee asked that they be provided with the Pension Board 
minutes for consideration at future meetings. 
ACTION  Stephen Bace 
 

77. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
THAT in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting 
 

 

- 3 - 
 

disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public. 
 

78. EXEMPT MINUTES  
 
The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2015 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

79. POOLING OF INVESTMENTS  
 
79.1  Graham Burrows provided members with an update at the meeting on 
the pooling of Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Investments.  
 
 

80. INVESTMENT REPORT - CBRE  
 
 RESOLVED 
  

That the presentation be noted. 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 
Meeting concluded at 11.30 am 

 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Pension Committee 
29th January 2016 

 
 

Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform -
Criteria and Guidance 

 
Report of the Strategic Finance Director  

 
 

Background 
 

As part of the July 2015 Budget statement the Chancellor announced that the 

government would be working with Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

administering authorities to ensure they pool investments to significantly reduce 

costs, while maintaining overall investment performance. Responsibility for deciding 

which asset classes to invest in would remain with the administering authorities. 
 

The subsequent pooling criteria which was published by government on 26th 

November 2015 covers 4 areas. These are: (1) size, (2) costs (3) governance and 

(4) infrastructure, as detailed below. 

1  Pools with at least £25bn of scheme assets 

2 Reduced fund manager fees and more transparency of costs 

3 Pools provide administering authorities with assurance their investments are 

being properly managed and to ensure that risk is adequately assessed and 

managed 

4 Improved capacity and capability to invest in infrastructure 

The Gloucestershire Fund has been working with the other South West LGPS 

Funds, along with some other like minded Funds considering the development of a 

proposal to create a regional investment pool. 

The Gloucestershire Fund is also part of another group of 25 LGPS Funds looking at 

the advantages/disadvantages of a number of options, including national investment 

pools versus multiple/ regional investment pools.  

 
Report 
 

Authorities have been asked to submit their initial proposals by 19 February 2016 
and should include a commitment to pooling and a description of their progress 
towards formalising their arrangements with other authorities. Authorities can 
choose whether to make individual or joint submissions.  
 

The initial submissions will be evaluated by Government against the criteria with 
feedback to highlight areas that may fall outside of the criteria or where additional 
evidence may be required. 
 

Refined and completed submissions are expected by 15 July 2016 which fully 

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



2 

 

address the criteria in the consultation document and provide any further 
information that would be helpful in evaluating the proposals. By July, the responses 
should include: 
 

• For each pool, a joint proposal from participating authorities setting out 
the pooling arrangement in detail. This may cover governance structures, 
decision making processes, and the implementation timetable. 

 

• For each authority, an individual return detailing the authority’s 
commitment to, and expectations of, the pool. This should include their 
profile of cost savings, the transition profile of their assets, and the 
rationale for any assets they intend to hold outside of the pools in the 
long term. 
 

The Government will assess the final proposals against the criteria and will provide a 
brief report which will set out the extent to which the criteria have been met and 
highlighting any aspects of the guidance that Government believes have not been 
adequately addressed. 
 

Government have not set a prescribed level of pooling by each Fund by a specific 

timescale, but there is an expectation from Government that pools could be set up 

within 18 months and the transfer of assets to pools will begin in April 2018.  
 

It will be for administering authorities to suggest how their pooling arrangements 
will be constituted and how they will operate but they should have regard to the 
following criteria. 
 
Asset pools that achieve the benefit of scale. The consultation indicates a 
minimum pool size of £25bn with no more than six asset pools once fully 
operational. However, it is not clear whether some proposals that do not meet 
this size requirement will still be permitted for other reasons. For example, the 
Welsh pool, which consists of all 8 Welsh administering authorities, consists of c. 
£13bn of assets. 
 

Consultation responses are required to: 
 

• The size of the pool once fully operational; 
 

• Any assets that are proposed to be held outside the pool and the rationale 
for doing so; 

 

• The type of pool they are participating in, including the legal structure if 
relevant; 

 

• How the pool will operate, the work to be carried out internally, and the 
services to be hired from outside; and 

 

• The timetable for establishing the pool and moving their assets into the 
pool and how progress will be reported against that timetable. 

 
Strong governance and decision making. The consultation expects that the 
proposed governance structure should: 
 

• At the local level, provide authorities with assurance that their 
investments are being managed appropriately within the pool, in line with 
their stated investment strategy and in the long term interests of their 

Page 6



3 

 

members. 
 

• At the pool level, ensure that risk is adequately assessed and managed, 
investment implementation decisions are made with a long term view, 
and a culture of continuous improvement is adopted. 

 

• Ensure efficient and effective decision making and risk management with 
the consultation response explaining: 

 

• The governance structure for their pool, including the 
accountability between the pool and elected councillors. 

 

• The mechanism by which the authority can hold the pool to 
account and secure assurance that their investment strategy is 
being implemented effectively and their investments are being 
well managed. 

 

• Decision making procedures at all stages of investment and the 
rationale for these. 

 

• The shared objectives of the pool. 
 

• The resources allocated to the running of the pool, including the 
governance budget, the number of staff needed and the skills and 
expertise required. 

 

•  How any environmental, social and corporate governance (ESG) 
policies will be handled by the pool. 

 

• How the authorities will act as responsible, long term investors 
through the pool including how the pool will determine and enact 
stewardship responsibilities. 

 

• How the net performance of each asset class will be reported 
publically by the pool to encourage the sharing of data and best 
practice. 

 

• The extent to which benchmarking is used by the authority, for 
example by undertaking the Scheme Advisory Board’s key 
performance indicator assessment. 

 

• Determining the investment strategy and setting the strategic asset 
allocation should remain with individual administering authorities.  

• It will be for each pool to determine which aspects of asset allocation are 
undertaken by the pool and which by the administering authority, and 
authorities should consider the additional benefits of centralising decision 
making to better exploit synergies with other participating authorities. 

 

• Government expects that the implementation of the investment strategy, 
including the selection of investment managers, will be delegated to 
officers or the pool, in order to make the most of the benefits of scale 
and react efficiently to changing market conditions. 

 
Reduced costs and excellent value for money. Authorities are expected to 
report the costs they incur on a transparent basis. The response to the 
consultation is required to: 
 

Page 7



4 

 

• Explain how the pool will deliver substantial savings in investment fees, 
both in the near term and over the next 15 years while at least 
maintaining investment performance. 

 

• Only use active fund management where it can be shown to deliver value 
for money, and authorities are required to show how fees and net 
performance in each listed asset class compare to a passive index. 
Authorities are also asked to consider setting targets for active managers 
which are focused on achieving appropriate risk-adjusted returns over an 
appropriate long term time period. 

 

• Although a particular savings target has not been set, Government does 
expect authorities to be ambitious in their pursuit of economies of scale 
and value for money. 

 
An improved capacity to invest in infrastructure. Proposals need to explain 
how infrastructure will feature in authorities’ investment strategies and how the 
pooling arrangements can improve the capacity and capability to invest in this 
asset class. Responses need to show: 
 

• The proportion of their fund currently allocated to infrastructure both 
directly and through funds; 

 

• How the pool might develop or acquire the capacity and capability to 
assess infrastructure projects and reduce costs by managing any 
subsequent investments directly through the pool; and 

 

• The proportion of their fund that they intend to invest in infrastructure. 
 

Government has received advice from PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) that 
indicates that formal pooling mechanisms can be implemented within 18 months. 
Therefore, it is expected that liquid assets are transferred into the pools over a 
relatively short timeframe beginning in April 2018. It is recognised that illiquid 
assets are likely to transition over a longer period of time. 
 

Government also intends to consult on “backstop” legislation that would require 
those administering authorities that do not come forward with sufficiently 
ambitious proposals to pool their assets with others. This is included in the 
consultation document “Local Government Pension Scheme: Revoking and 
replacing the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment 
of Funds) Regulations 2009”. These changes to the investment regulations are  
considered in a separate paper to this Committee. 
 

The proposal for the Gloucestershire Fund to pool investments is detailed in a 
separate paper, within the exempt part of this meeting.  
 
 
Recommendation 
 

The Committee are asked to note this report 
 
 
Contact Officer 
 

Graham Burrow (01452 328944) 

Page 8



1 

 

Pension Committee 
29th January 2016 

 
 

   Consultation on revoking and replacing the LGPS (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

 
Report of the Strategic Finance Director  

 
 

Background 
 

In addition to publishing criteria on the pooling of Local Government Pension 

Scheme (LGPS) investments on 26th November 2015, the government also 

published a consultation on revoking and replacing the LGPS (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009. 
 

This consultation is partly to modernise the regulations, which were last updated in 

2009, but also to facilitate the pooling of investments within the LGPS. The proposed 

changes to the Investment Regulations are included in their consultation document 

entitled, LGPS: Revoking and replacing the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 and in the draft LGPS 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 
 

 Both these documents are attached with this report and are summarised below. 

 

 

Report 
 

This consultation has been issued in parallel to the criteria on pooling 
as Government recognises that the existing regulations place restrictions on 
certain investments that may constrain authorities considering how best to pool 
their assets. The deadline for responding to the consultation on the investment 
regulations is 19 February 2016. 
 

 The consultation consists of:– 

 (i) proposed revisions to the Investment Regulations to provide more flexibility 

 and 

 (ii) the introduction of a safeguard to ensure this flexibility is used appropriately. 
 

(i) Proposed revisions to the Investment Regulations 
 
The current Investment Regulations were introduced in 2009 and sought to 
ensure that authorities established a balanced and diversified portfolio by placing 
restrictions on the proportion of their assets that could be invested in different 
vehicles. As part of the LGPS reform process it was highlighted that this could 
prevent authorities from making meaningful allocations to a collective investment 
vehicle (CIV) or pool. There was also some uncertainty as to what constituted a 
permitted investment as some asset classes were explicitly referenced but others 

Agenda Item 7

Page 9



2 

 

were not. 
 

The proposed revisions are a package of reforms that remove some of the 
existing prescribed means of securing a diversified investment strategy. The 
proposed changes would move towards the “prudent person” approach to 
investment that applies to trust-based pension schemes. This places the onus on 
authorities to determine a suitable balance of investments to meet its liabilities 
whilst taking account of risk. 
 

Government’s intention is to deregulate and simplify the regulations. As part of 
this, some of the existing provisions have not been carried forward into the draft 
2016 regulations in the expectation that they would be effectively maintained by 
general law provisions and so specific regulation is no longer required. These 
include the requirement to comply with the Myners’ Principles (Regulation 
12(3)) although authorities should still have regard to the guidance. 
 

The key aspects of the draft regulations are: 
 

• The existing schedule of limitations on investments (Schedule 1) has been 
removed. Instead authorities will be expected to take a prudential 
approach, demonstrating that they have given consideration to the 
suitability of the different types of investment, have ensured an 
appropriately diverse portfolio of assets, and have ensured an approach to 
managing risk. 

 

• The existing Statement of Investment Principles (Regulation 12 of the 
current Regulations) will be replaced by an Investment Strategy Statement 
(Regulation 7 of the draft Regulations) which must cover: 

 
o  A requirement to use a wide variety of investments. 

 
o The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular 

investments and types of investments. 
 

o The authority’s approach to risk, including how it will be 
measured and managed. 

 
o The authority’s approach to collaborative investment, including 

the use of collective investment vehicles and shared services. 
 

o The authority’s environmental, social, and corporate governance 
(ESG) policy. This includes the extent to which ESG factors are 
taken into account in the selection, retention, and realisation of 
investments. Guidance on how these policies should reflect UK 
foreign policy and related issues will be published ahead of the 
new regulations coming into force. 

 
o  The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights, including voting 

rights, attached to its investments. 
 

• The statement must be published no later than six months after 
the regulations come into force (currently expected to be 1 
October 2016). 

Page 10



3 

 

 

• The 2009 regulations would remain in place until the authority 
publishes an investment strategy statement or until 6 months after 
the new regulations come into effect. 

 

• The introduction of safeguards (Regulation 8) to ensure that the more 
flexible legislation proposed is used appropriately, and that the guidance 
on pooling assets is adhered to, including a power to allow the Secretary 
of State to intervene in the investment function of an administering 
authority when necessary. 

 
(ii) Introduction of a safeguard 

 
The Government also proposes to introduce a power to allow the Secretary of 
State to intervene in an authority’s investment function to ensure that authorities 
take advantage of the benefits of scale offered by pooling and deliver investment 
strategies that adhere to regulation and guidance (Regulation 8). 
 

The consultation sets out the evidence that the Secretary of State may draw on 
before deciding to intervene and makes clear that any direction will need to be 
proportionate. This evidence may include authorities: 
 

• Ignoring information on best practice. 
 

• Not following the investment regulations or not having regard to 
guidance published by the Secretary of State. 

 

• Carrying out another pension-related function poorly. 
 
It is intended that this power will allow the Secretary of State to act if best 
practice or regulation is being ignored, which will help to ensure that authorities 
continue to pursue more efficient means of investment. It could be used to 
address authorities that do not bring forward proposals for pooling their assets in 
line with the published criteria and guidance. 
 

If intervention into the investment function is considered to be necessary the 
Secretary of State may order a further investigation to provide the analysis 
required to make a decision. The administering authority would be obliged to 
provide any information deemed necessary and would be invited to participate in 
the review and provide evidence to support its actions. 
 

If an intervention is required, the Secretary of State would determine the 
appropriate extent of intervention. The power has been left intentionally broad to 
ensure that a tailored and measured course of action is applied. 
 

Potential interventions could include: 
 

• Requiring an authority to develop a new investment strategy statement in 
line with the relevant guidance. 

 

• Directing an authority to invest all or a portion of its assets in a particular 
way that more closely adheres to the criteria and guidance e.g. through a 
pooled vehicle. 

Page 11



4 

 

 

• The investment function is exercised by the Secretary of State or their 
nominee. 

 

• The implementation of the investment strategy is undertaken by another 
body. 

 

Where an intervention is considered necessary the Secretary of State will write to the 
authority to outline the proposed intervention. This will include: 
 

• A detailed explanation of why the intervention is needed including 
supporting evidence. 

 

• A clear description of the proposed intervention. 
 

• The timetable for the intervention including when the intervention is 
formally reviewed; and 

 

• The circumstances under which the intervention might be lifted prior to 
review. 

 

In the event of an intervention any resulting costs, charges and expenses incurred in 
administering the fund would be met by the pension fund assets. 
 

The consultation asks eight questions in relation to the above. These are detailed in 
the attached annex with a summary of the key points on which the Committee may 
wish to respond. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

That the Committee considers the questions and key issues on which it may wish to 
respond, and determines whether it wishes to delegate to the Strategic Finance 
Director and Chairman of the Pension Fund to submit a response based around the 
key points detailed below in the annex. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Graham Burrow (01452 328944)  

Page 12



5 

 

ANNEX 
 
Proposed revisions to the Investment Regulations 
 
There are four questions asked as part of these proposed revisions: 
 

•  Does the proposed deregulation achieve the intended policy aim of 
removing any unnecessary regulation while still ensuring that authorities’ 
investments are made prudently and having taken advice? 
 
Key Points : Support for removing unnecessary regulation. 

 

•  Are there any specific issues that should be reinstated? 
 

Key Points : Officers do not feel that any specific issues need to be reinstated. 
 

• Is six months the appropriate period for the transitional arrangements to 
remain in place? 
 
Key Points : Under the proposed regulations there is a requirement to publish 
an Investment Strategy Statement “no later than 1st October 2016”. The 
regulations also state that “the Authority must review and if necessary revise 
its investment strategy from time to time, and at least every 3 years.” The 
Investment Strategy is by its nature heavily linked to the Administering 
Authority’s Funding Strategy Statement, but no mention has been made in the 
proposed regulations to this document.  
 
Given that the logical time to review the Investment and Funding Strategies is 
after the triennial valuation, the results of which will be finalised by the end of 
March 2017, it would seem sensible to increase the deadline to 31st May 2017 
to allow for detailed consideration of the changes to both strategies. 

 

• Should the regulation be explicit that derivatives should only be used as a 
risk management tool? Are there any other circumstances in which the 
use of derivatives would be appropriate? 
 
Key Points : Suggest that a definition of “derivative instruments” should  
reflect the investments regulations applying to the private sector, ie “derivative 
instruments may only be made in so far as they – 
(a) Contribute to reductions of risks: or 
(b) Facilitate efficient portfolio management” 

 
Introduction of a safeguard 
 
There are also four questions asked as part of this proposal: 
 

• Are there any other sources of evidence to establish whether an 
intervention is required? 
 
Key Points : No other sources identified. 
 

Page 13



6 

 

 
 

• Does the intervention allow authorities sufficient scope and time to 
present evidence in favour of their existing arrangements? 
 
Key Points : The proposed regulation do not currently state a set period of 

time for Authorities to review their Investment Strategy Statement or to 

provide evidence following consultation by the Secretary of State under 

regulation 8 (3). A set period of time such as 3 months could be an 

appropriate period. 

• Does the proposed approach allow the Secretary of State sufficient 
flexibility to ensure that they can introduce a proportionate intervention? 
 
Key Points : Officers have concerns in relation to regulation 8 (2) (b) where 

the Secretary of State could specify what investments should be made. This 

may not meet the objectives of the Fund as stated in the Funding Strategy 

Statement. Officers would be concerned if this was a method of ensuring 

Funds invest in specific asset classes which didn’t meet the risk / return profile 

objectives of the Fund’s investment strategy. 

• Do the proposals meet the objectives of the policy to make a 
proportionate intervention if an authority has not had regard to best 
practice, guidance, or regulation? 
 
Key Points : Do not feel that an informed response can be made until best 
practice guidance is issued.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

November 2015 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Local Government Pension Scheme: 
Revoking and replacing the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

Consultation 

 

Page 15



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2015 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/version/3/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London 
TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

November 2015 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4731-1

Page 16



 

3 

Contents 

About this consultation 4 

The consultation process and how to respond 5 

Scope of the consultation 5 

Basic Information 6 

Background 7 

Introduction and Background 9 

Introduction 9 

Background 9 

Getting to this stage 11 

Proposal 1: Adopting a local approach to investment 16 

Deregulating and adopting a local approach to investment 16 

Investment strategy statement 17 

Non-financial factors 18 

Investment 18 

Proposal 2: Introducing a safeguard - Secretary of State power of intervention 20 

Summary of the proposal 20 

Summary of the draft regulations 24 

Annex A: Members of the Investment Regulation Review Group 26 

 

Page 17



 

4 

About this consultation 

This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the 
Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  
 
Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 
represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions 
when they respond. 
 
Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, may 
be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 
primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) 
and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004. 
 
If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 
that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public authorities 
must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of confidence. In 
view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information 
you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information 
we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that 
confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality 
disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the 
Department. 
 
The Department for Communities and Local Government will process your personal data 
in accordance with DPA and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your 
personal data will not be disclosed to third parties.  
 
Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested. 
 
Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and 
respond. 
 
Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles?  If not or 
you have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact 
DCLG Consultation Co-ordinator. 
 

Department for Communities and Local Government 

2 Marsham Street 

London 

SW1P 4DF 

or by e-mail to: consultationcoordinator@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

Page 18



 

5 

The consultation process and how to 
respond  

Scope of the consultation 

 

Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation proposes to revoke and replace the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 with the draft regulations described in 
this paper. There are two main areas of reform: 

1. A package of reforms that propose to remove some of 
the existing prescribed means of securing a diversified 
investment strategy and instead place the onus on 
authorities to determine the balance of their investments 
and take account of risk. 

2. The introduction of safeguards to ensure that the more 
flexible legislation proposed is used appropriately and 
that the guidance on pooling assets is adhered to. This 
includes a suggested power to allow the Secretary of 
State to intervene in the investment function of an 
administering authority when necessary. 
 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

Views are sought on: 

1. Whether the proposed revisions to the investment 
regulations will give authorities the flexibility to determine 
a suitable investment strategy that appropriately takes 
account of risk. 

2. Whether the proposals to introduce the power of 
intervention as a safeguard will enable the Secretary of 
State to intervene, when appropriate, to ensure that 
authorities take advantage of the benefits of scale 
offered by pooling and deliver investment strategies that 
adhere to regulation and guidance. 
 

Geographical 
scope: 

This consultation applies to England and Wales. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

The proposed interventions affect the investment of assets by 
local government pension scheme administering authorities. 
These authorities are all public sector organisations, so no 
impact assessment is required.  
 

 

Page 19



 

6 

Basic Information 

 

To: The consultation is aimed at all parties with an interest in the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (the Scheme) and in 
particular those listed on the Government’s website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-
pension-scheme-regulations-information-on-who-should-be-
consulted  

Body/bodies 
responsible for 
the consultation: 

Secretary of State, Department for Communities and Local 
Government.  
 
The consultation will be administered by the Workforce, Pay 
and Pensions Division.  

Duration: 25 November 2015 to 19 February 2016 
 

Enquiries: Enquires should be sent to Victoria Edwards. Please email 
LGPSReform@communities.gsi.gov.uk or call 0303 444 
4057.  

 

How to respond: Responses to this consultation should be submitted to 
LGPSReform@communities.gsi.gov.uk by 19 February 2016.  
 
Electronic responses are preferred. However, you can also 
write to:  
 
LGPS Reform 
Department for Communities and Local Government 
2/SE Quarter, Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London 
SW1P 4DF 
 

Additional ways 
to become 
involved: 

If you would like to discuss the proposals, please email 
LGPSReform@communities.gsi.gov.uk  
 

After the 
consultation: 

All consultation responses will be reviewed and analysed. A 
Government response will then be published within three 
months, and subject to the outcome of this consultation, the 
resulting regulations laid in Parliament.  
 

Compatibility 
with the 
Consultation 
Principles: 

This consultation has been drafted in accordance with the 
Consultation Principles.  

 

Page 20



 

7 

Background 

 

Getting to this 
stage: 

The proposals in this consultation are the culmination of work 
looking into Local Government Pension Scheme investments that 
began in early 2013. It has been developed in response to the 
May 2014 consultation, Opportunities for collaboration, cost 
savings and efficiencies, which considered whether savings might 
be delivered through collective investment and greater use of 
passive fund management. A copy of the consultation and the 
Government’s response is available on the Government’s 
website: https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-
government-pension-scheme-opportunities-for-collaboration-cost-
savings-and-efficiencies.  
 
The consultation responses called for a voluntary approach to 
reform, opposing the introduction of a single, national model of 
pooling. The Government has therefore invited authorities to 
develop their own proposals for pooling, subject to common 
criteria and guidance. The criteria for reform have been 
developed using the consultation responses and following a 
series of workshops and conversations with authorities and the 
fund management industry since the July Budget 2015.  
 
Some respondents to the May 2014 consultation also suggested 
that amendments were required to the investment regulations in 
order to facilitate greater investment in pooled vehicles. In 
addition, prior to that consultation, authorities and the fund 
management industry had called for wider reform. A small 
working group, whose participants are listed in Annex A, was 
established to look at whether the approach to risk management 
and diversification in the existing regulations was still appropriate. 
They recommended moving towards the “prudential person” 
approach that governs trust based pension schemes. The group 
also sought clarity as to whether certain types of investment were 
possible, such as the use of derivatives in risk management. The 
work of that group has informed the development of this 
consultation. 
 
In relaxing the regulatory framework for scheme investments, it is 
important to introduce safeguards to ensure that the less 
prescriptive approach is used appropriately. The July Budget 
2015 announcement also indicated that measures should be 
introduced to ensure that those authorities who do not bring 
forward ambitious proposals for pooling, in keeping with the 
criteria, should be required to pool. This consultation therefore 
sets out how the Secretary of State might intervene to ensure that 
authorities take advantage of the benefits of scale offered by 
pooling and deliver investment strategies that adhere to 
regulation and guidance. 

Page 21



 

8 

Previous 
engagement: 

The proposed changes in this consultation are the result of a 
programme of engagement that began in summer 2013: 

 Round table event, 16 May 2013. Representatives of 
administering authorities, employers, trade unions, the 
actuarial profession and academia discussed the potential 
for increased cooperation within the Scheme. 

 A call for evidence, run with the Local Government 
Association, June to September 2013. This gave anyone 
with an interest in the Scheme the opportunity to inform 
the Government’s thinking on potential structural reform. 
The results were shared with the Shadow Scheme 
Advisory Board, which provided the Minister for Local 
Government with their analysis of the responses. 

 Consultation, Opportunities for collaboration, cost savings 
and efficiencies, May to June 2014. The consultation set 
out how savings of £470-660m a year could be achieved 
by collective investment and greater use of passive fund 
management. It also sought views as to how these reforms 
might best be implemented. The Government’s response 
is available online: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-
government-pension-scheme-opportunities-for-
collaboration-cost-savings-and-efficiencies. 

 Informal engagement, July to November, 2015. Since the 
July Budget 2015 announcement, officials have attended 
over 25 workshops and bi-lateral meetings with 
administering authorities and the fund management 
industry. These discussions have been used to develop 
the criteria for reform and inform how the proposed power 
of the Secretary of State to intervene might work. 

 
In addition, the Investment Regulation Review Group was formed 
in 2012 to consider potential amendments to the investment 
regulations. The group included representatives from 
administering authorities, actuarial firms, pension lawyers and the 
fund management industry. An initial proposal for reform was 
prepared that has also informed the development of the draft 
regulations that are the subject of this consultation. 
 

 

Page 22



 

9 

Introduction and Background 

Introduction 

1.1 In May 2014 the Government published a consultation which set out how savings of 
up to £660m a year might be achieved through greater use of passive management and 
pooled investment. Investing collectively can help authorities to drive down costs and 
access the benefits of scale, and also enables them to develop the capacity and capability 
to invest more cost effectively in illiquid asset classes such as infrastructure. The 
Government has therefore invited authorities to develop ambitious proposals for pooling 
assets that meet published criteria. More information about the criteria and process of 
reform is available on the Government’s website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-pension-scheme-
investment-reform-criteria-and-guidance. 

1.2 This consultation complements that invitation, recognising that the existing 
regulations place restrictions on certain investments that may constrain authorities 
considering how best to pool their assets. It therefore proposes to move to a prudential 
approach to securing a diversified investment strategy that appropriately takes account of 
risk. In so doing, and to ensure that authorities take advantage of the benefits of scale, the 
Government proposes to introduce a power to allow the Secretary of State to intervene to 
ensure that authorities take advantage of the benefits of scale offered by pooling and 
deliver investment strategies that adhere to regulation and guidance. 

1.3 This paper sets out the purpose and rationale of the suggested amendments to the 
investment regulations, and seeks views as to whether the proposed approach would best 
deliver those stated aims. 

Background 

1.4 With assets of £178bn at its last valuation on 31 March 2013, the Local Government 
Pension Scheme is one of the largest funded pension schemes in Europe. Several 
thousand employers participate in the Scheme, which has a total of 4.68 million active, 
deferred and pensioner members.1 The Department for Communities and Local 
Government is responsible for the regulatory framework governing the Scheme in England 
and Wales. 

1.5 The Scheme is managed through 90 administering authorities which broadly 
correspond to the county councils following the 1974 local government reorganisation as 
well as each of the 33 London boroughs. In most cases, the administering authorities are 
upper tier local authorities such as county or unitary councils, but there are also some 
authorities established specifically to manage their pension liabilities, for example the 
London Pension Fund Authority and the Environment Agency Pension Fund. The 

                                            
 
1
 Scheme asset value and membership figures taken from Department for Communities and Local 

Government statistical data set - Local government pension scheme funds summary data: 2012 to 2013 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/local-government-pension-scheme-funds-summary-
data-2012-to-2013  

Page 23



 

10 

administering authorities have individual governance and working arrangements. Each has 
its own funding level, cash-flow and balance of active, deferred and pensioner members. 
Authorities take these circumstances into account when preparing their investment 
strategies, which are normally agreed by the councillors on each authority’s pension 
committee. The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 set the legal framework for the development of these investment 
strategies and the investments carried out by administering authorities. This consultation 
proposes that the Government revokes and replaces those regulations.  

1.6 Under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, there is a requirement for a national 
scheme advisory board, as well as a local board for each of the 90 funds. In 2013, 
Scheme employers and the trade unions established a shadow board, which has been 
considering a number of issues connected with the Scheme, including its efficient 
management and administration. Appointments have now been made to the national 
scheme advisory board and the Chair is expected to be appointed shortly.  

 
 

Page 24



 

11 

Getting to this stage 

2.1 The consultation is formed of two main proposals: 

1. A package of reforms that propose to remove some the existing prescribed means 
of securing a diversified investment strategy and instead place the onus on 
authorities to determine the balance of their investments and take account of risk. 
The changes proposed would move towards the “prudent person” approach to 
investment that applies to trust based pension schemes. 

2. The introduction of safeguards to ensure that the more flexible legislation proposed 
is used appropriately, and that the guidance on pooling assets is adhered to, 
including a power to allow the Secretary of State to intervene in the investment 
function of an administering authority when necessary. 

Pooling assets to deliver the benefits of scale 

2.2 The proposals set out in this consultation are the culmination of work carried out 
over the last two and a half years to explore how to reform the way the Scheme makes its 
investments in order to achieve the benefits of scale and drive efficiencies. 

2.3 In summer 2013, the coalition government launched a call for evidence to explore 
how the Scheme might be made more sustainable and affordable in the long term. 133 
responses were received, many of which took the opportunity to discuss whether collective 
investment and greater collaboration might deliver savings for the Scheme.  

2.4 Following the call for evidence, the Minister for the Cabinet Office and Minister for 
Local Government commissioned a cost-benefits analysis from Hymans Robertson on a 
range of proposals. Hymans Robertson’s report explored three areas: 

 The cost of investment: Many of the costs associated with investment are not 
transparent and so difficult to capture. The costs of managing and administering 
the Scheme were reported as being £536 million in 2012-13.2 However, Hymans 
Robertson found that the actual cost was likely to be rather higher; with investment 
costs alone estimated as in excess of £790 million a year.3 

 Approaches to collaboration: Hymans Robertson was asked to examine the 
costs and benefits of three options for reform: merging the authorities into 5-10 
funds, creating 5-10 collective investment vehicles, or establishing just 1-2 
collective investment vehicles. They found that the net present value of savings 
over ten years was highest with a small number of vehicles, while merging funds 
offered the lowest benefit.4 

                                            
 
2
 Local government pension scheme funds summary data: 2012 to 2013 

3
 Department for Communities and Local Government: Local Government Pension Scheme structure 

analysis, Hymans Robertson pp. 10-11. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-
pension-scheme-opportunities-for-collaboration-cost-savings-and-efficiencies 
4
 Hymans Robertson, p.6 

Page 25



 

12 

 The aggregate performance of the scheme: The report found that the Scheme 
as a whole had been achieving the market rate of return in each of the main equity 
markets over the ten years to March 2013. If the Scheme’s investments in bonds 
and equities had been managed passively instead of actively, authorities could 
have saved at least £230m a year in management fees without affecting overall 
investment returns.5 

2.5 Drawing on the Hymans Robertson report and the call for evidence, the coalition 
government published a consultation in May 2014 entitled Opportunities for collaboration, 
cost savings and efficiencies. This set out how the Scheme could save up to £660m a year 
by using collective investment vehicles and making greater use of passive management 
for listed assets like bonds and equities. The consultation sought views on these 
proposals, and how they might be most effectively implemented. Respondents were 
broadly in favour of pooling assets, but felt that any reform should be voluntary and led by 
administering authorities. While many recognised a role for passive management in an 
investment strategy, most also felt that some active management should be retained. 

2.6 At the July Budget 2015, Ministers having reflected on the consultation responses, 
the Chancellor announced the Government’s intention to invite administering authorities to 
bring forward proposals for pooling local government pension scheme investments. 
Authorities’ proposals would be assessed against published criteria, designed to 
encourage ambition in the pursuit of efficiencies and the benefits of scale. These criteria 
have now been published and are available online at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-pension-scheme-
investment-reform-criteria-and-guidance. 

Updating the investment regulations  

2.7 When considering the implications of creating asset pools amongst authorities, 
some respondents to the May 2014 consultation took the opportunity to call for a review of 
the existing investment regulations. At their introduction in 2009, the regulations sought to 
ensure that authorities established a balanced and diversified portfolio by placing 
restrictions on the proportion of their assets that could be invested in different vehicles. For 
example, deposits with a single bank, institution or person, (other than the National 
Savings Bank), were restricted to 10% of an authority’s assets. These restrictions have 
been kept under regular review and have been subject to change following representations 
from the investment sector and pension fund authorities. 

2.8 Some respondents to the consultation suggested that the current limits on 
investments would prevent authorities from making meaningful allocations to a collective 
investment vehicle, one of the leading options for asset pooling, as the allocation to 
particular types of vehicle is capped at 35%. Participants in the London Boroughs’ 
collective investment vehicle and the collaboration between the London Pension Fund 
Authority and Lancashire County Council also wrote to the Department encouraging 
reform in this area.  

                                            
 
5
 Hymans Robertson, p.12  

Page 26



 

13 

2.9 While the proposals for collective investment in the May 2014 consultation 
prompted encouragement to review the investment regulations, the idea of reform was not 
new. In 2012, following representations from the investment sector, the Government 
formed a small working group to revisit and examine the investment regulations with input 
from actuaries, fund managers and administering authorities. This group, whose 
membership is set out in Annex A, recommended that a more permissive approach should 
be taken to the legislative framework, similar to the “prudent person” model that applies to 
trust based pension schemes. This approach places the onus on the pension fund to 
determine a suitable balance of investments to meet its liabilities, which are clearly 
articulated in an investment strategy. The group also felt that the existing regulations 
introduced uncertainty for some authorities as to what constituted a permitted investment, 
as some asset classes were explicitly referenced but others were not. In particular, 
concern has been expressed as to whether or not pension fund authorities are permitted to 
invest in vehicles such as derivatives, hedge funds and forward currency contracts. 

2.10 The proposals in this consultation paper therefore seek to address these issues, 
placing the onus on authorities to determine a diversified investment strategy that 
appropriately takes risk into account.  

2.11 However, in relaxing the regulatory framework for scheme investments, it is also 
important to introduce safeguards to ensure that the less prescriptive approach proposed 
is used appropriately. Similarly, the July Budget 2015 announcement stated that draft 
regulations would be introduced to require an authority to pool its investments if it did not 
bring forward ambitious proposals that met the Government’s criteria. This consultation 
therefore sets out how the Secretary of State might intervene to ensure that authorities 
take advantage of the benefits of scale offered by pooling and deliver investment 
strategies that adhere to regulation and guidance.  

Response to the Law Commission’s Review of Fiduciary 
Duty 

2.12 The Kay Review on Fiduciary Duty published its final report in July 2012. In addition 
to making a number of recommendations to address the excessive focus on short-term 
performance in equity investment markets, it recommended that the Government ask the 
Law Commission to review the fiduciary duties of investment intermediaries amid concerns 
that these common law duties were being interpreted by some pension schemes as a 
requirement to focus solely on short-term financial returns.   

2.13 In their report, published in July 2014, the Law Commission called on the 
Department to review: 

 Whether the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2009 should transpose article 18(1) of the Institutions for 
Occupational Retirement Provision (IORP) Directive, and 

 Those aspects of Regulation 9 of the 2009 Regulations which require investment 
managers to be appointed on a short-term basis and reviewed every three 
months.  

Page 27



 

14 

2.14 These recommendations were supported by the Government’s progress report on 
the implementation of the Kay Review published in October 2014 by the Department for 
Business Innovation and Skills. 

2.15 Article 18(1) of the IORP Directive requires assets to be invested in the best 
interests of members and beneficiaries and, in the event of a conflict of interest, in the sole 
interests of members and beneficiaries.  

2.16 Regulation 4 of The Occupational Pension Schemes (Investment) Regulations 2005 
(SI 2005 No 3378) transposed Article 18(1): 

“4. (1) The trustees of a trust scheme must exercise their powers of investment, and any 
fund manager to whom any discretion has been delegated under section 34 of the 1995 
Act (power of investment and delegation) must exercise the discretion, in accordance with 
the following provisions of this regulation 

(2) The assets must be invested: 

(a) In the best interests of members and beneficiaries; and 

(b) In the case of a potential conflict of interest, in the sole interest of members and 
beneficiaries.” 

2.17 The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme made under section 
1 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 and previously under The Superannuation Act 
1972. It is not subject to trust law and those responsible for making investment decisions 
in the Scheme are not therefore required to comply with Regulation 4 of the 2005 
Regulations. 

2.18 However, this does nothing to change the general legal principles governing the 
administration of Scheme investments and how those responsible for such decisions 
should exercise their duties and powers under the Scheme’s investment regulations. 

2.19 In a circular issued by the then Department of the Environment in 1983 (No 24), the 
Secretary of State took the view that administering authorities should pay due regard to 
the principle contained in the case of Roberts v Hopwood [1925] A.C. 578 p. 595: 

“A body charged with the administration for definite purposes of funds contributed in whole 
or in part by persons other than members of that body owes, in my view, a duty to those 
latter persons to conduct that administration in a fairly business-like manner with 
reasonable care, skill and caution, and with a due and alert regard to the interest of those 
contributors who are not members of the body. Towards these latter persons, the body 
stands somewhat in the position of trustees or managers of the property of others.” 

2.20 Those in local government responsible for making investment decisions must also 
act in accordance with ordinary public law principles, in particular, the ordinary public law 
principles of reasonableness. They risk challenge if a decision they make is so 
unreasonable that no reasonable person acting reasonably could have made it. 

2.21 Having considered fully the recommendation made by the Kay Review and 
supported by both the Law Commission and the Government, Ministers are satisfied that 
the Scheme is consistent with the national legislative framework governing the duties 
placed on those responsible for making investment decisions. The position at common law 

Page 28



 

15 

is also indistinguishable from that produced by the 2005 Regulations applicable in respect 
of trust-based schemes. 

2.22 We do, however, propose to remove the requirement for the performance of 
investment managers to be reviewed once every three months from the regulations.  

 

Page 29



 

16 

Proposal 1: Adopting a local approach to 
investment 

Deregulating and adopting a local approach to investment 

3.1 In developing these draft regulations, the Government has sought, where 
appropriate, to deregulate and simplify the regulations that have governed the 
management and investment of funds since 2009. Some of the existing provisions have 
not been carried forward into the draft 2016 Regulations in the expectation that they would 
be effectively maintained by general law provisions and so specific regulation is no longer 
needed. For example, those making investment decisions are still required to act 
prudently, and there remains a statutory requirement to take and act on proper advice. 
Some of the provisions in the 2009 Regulations which have not been carried forward on 
this basis include: 

 Stock lending arrangements under Regulation 3(8) and (9) of the 2009 regulations. 
The view is taken that the definition of “investment” in draft Regulation 3 is 
sufficient given that a stock lending arrangement can only be used if it falls within 
the ordinary meaning of an “investment”. 

 Regulation 8(5) of the 2009 regulations ensures that funds are managed by an 
adequate number of investment managers and that, where there is more than one 
investment manager, the value of the fund money managed by them is not 
disproportionate. Here, the view is taken that administering authorities should be 
responsible for managing their own affairs and making decisions of this kind based 
on prudent and proper advice. 

 There are many provisions in the 2009 Regulations which impose conditions on 
the choice and terms of appointments of investment managers. Since the activities 
of investment managers are governed by the contracts under which they are 
appointed, the view is taken that making similar provision in the 2016 Regulations 
would be unnecessary duplication. Examples include the requirement for 
investment managers to comply with an administering authority’s instructions and 
the power to terminate the appointment by not more than one month’s notice. 

 Regulation 12(3) of the 2009 Regulations requires administering authorities to 
state the extent to which they comply with guidance given by the Secretary of 
State on the Myners principles for investment decision making. As part of the 
wider deregulation, the draft regulations make no provision to report against these 
principles, although authorities should still have regard to the guidance. 

3.2 These examples of deregulation are for illustrative purposes only. It is not an 
exhaustive list of provisions which the Government proposes to remove. Consultees are 
asked to look carefully at the full extent of deregulation and comment on any particular 
case that raises concerns about the impact such an omission might have on the effective 
management and investment of funds. 

Page 30



 

17 

Investment strategy statement 

3.3 As part of this deregulation, the draft regulations also propose to remove the 
existing schedule of limitations on investments. Instead authorities will be expected to take 
a prudential approach, demonstrating that they have given consideration to the suitability 
of different types of investment, have ensured an appropriately diverse portfolio of assets 
and have ensured an appropriate approach to managing risk.  

3.4 Key to this will be the investment strategy statement, which authorities will be 
required to prepare, having taken proper advice, and publish. The statement must cover: 

 A requirement to use a wide variety of investments. 

 The authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 
investments. 

 The authority’s approach to risk, including how it will be measured and managed. 

 The authority’s approach to collaborative investment, including the use of 
collective investment vehicles and shared services. 

 The authority’s environmental, social and corporate governance policy.  

 The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights, including voting rights, attached to 
its investments. 

Transitional arrangements 

3.5 Draft regulation seven proposes to require authorities to publish an investment 
strategy statement no later than six months after the regulations come into force (this is 
currently drafted as 1 October 2016, in case the draft regulations come into effect on 1 
April 2016). However, the draft regulations would also revoke the existing 2009 
Regulations when they come into effect. Transitional arrangements are therefore required 
to ensure that an authority’s investments and investment strategy are regulated between 
the draft regulations coming into effect and the publication of an authority’s new 
investment strategy statement. The transitional arrangements proposed in draft regulation 
12 would mean that the following regulations in the 2009 Regulations would remain in 
place until the authority publishes an investment strategy or six months lapses from the 
date that the regulations come into effect: 

 11 (investment policy and investment of pension fund money) 

 14 (restrictions on investments) 

 15 (requirements for increased limits) 

 Schedule 1 (table of limits on investments) 

Statement of Investment Principles 

3.6 We do not propose to carry forward the existing requirement under regulation 12 of 
the 2009 Regulations to maintain a Statement of Investment Principles. However, the main 
elements, such as risk, diversification, corporate governance and suitability, will instead be 
carried forward as part of the reporting requirements of the new investment strategy 

Page 31



 

18 

statement. Administering authorities will still be required to maintain their funding strategy 
statements under Regulation 58 of the 2013 regulations. 

Non-financial factors 

3.7 The Secretary of State has made clear that using pensions and procurement 
policies to pursue boycotts, divestments and sanctions against foreign nations and the UK 
defence industry are inappropriate, other than where formal legal sanctions, embargoes 
and restrictions have been put in place by the Government. The Secretary of State has 
said, “Divisive policies undermine good community relations, and harm the economic 
security of families by pushing up council tax. We need to challenge and prevent the 
politics of division.” 

3.8 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2009 already require administering authorities to publish and follow a 
statement of investment principles, which must comply with guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State. The draft replacement Regulations include provision for administering 
authorities to publish their policies on the extent to which environmental, social and 
corporate governance matters are taken into account in the selection, retention and 
realisation of investments. Guidance on how these policies should reflect foreign policy 
and related issues will be published ahead of the new Regulations coming into force. This 
will make clear to authorities that in formulating these policies their predominant concern 
should be the pursuit of a financial return on their investments, including over the longer 
term, and that, reflecting the position set out in the paragraph above, they should not 
pursue policies which run contrary to UK foreign policy. 

Investment 

3.9 A few definitions and some aspects of regulation 3, which describes what 
constitutes an investment for the purpose of these regulations, have been updated to take 
account of changing terminology and technical changes since the regulations were last 
issued in 2009. For example, the reference to the London International Financial Futures 
Exchange (LIFFE) has been removed as it now operates as a clearing house and so is 
covered by the approved stock exchange definition. 

3.10 Some additional information has been included to make clear that certain 
investments, such as derivatives, may be used where appropriate. The Government 
expects that having considered the appropriateness of an investment in their investment 
strategy statement, authorities would only use derivatives as a means of managing risk, 
and so has not explicitly stated that this should be the case.  

Questions 

1. Does the proposed deregulation achieve the intended policy aim of removing any 
unnecessary regulation while still ensuring that authorities’ investments are made 
prudently and having taken advice? 

2. Are there any specific issues that should be reinstated? Please explain why. 

Page 32



 

19 

3. Is six months the appropriate period for the transitional arrangements to remain in 
place? 

4. Should the regulation be explicit that derivatives should only be used as a risk 
management tool? Are there any other circumstances in which the use of derivatives 
would be appropriate? 

Page 33



 

20 

Proposal 2: Introducing a safeguard - 
Secretary of State power of intervention 

Summary of the proposal 

4.1 The first part of this consultation lifts some of the existing restrictions on 
administering authorities’ investments in order to make it easier for them to pool their 
investments and access the benefits of scale. To ensure that this new flexibility is used 
appropriately, the consultation also proposes to introduce a power to intervene in the 
investment function of an administering authority if the Secretary of State believes that it 
has not had regard to guidance and regulations. The consultation sets out the evidence 
that the Secretary of State may draw on before deciding to intervene, and makes clear that 
any direction will need to be proportionate. The power proposed in this consultation is 
intended to allow the Secretary of State to act if best practice or regulation is being 
ignored, which will help to ensure that authorities continue to pursue more efficient means 
of investment.  

4.2 The July Budget 2015 announcement set out the Government’s intention to 
introduce “backstop” legislation to require those authorities who do not bring forward 
sufficiently ambitious plans to pool their investments. It also explained that authorities’ 
proposals would need to meet common criteria, which have been published with draft 
guidance alongside this consultation. The draft power to intervene discussed in this paper 
could be used to address authorities that do not bring forward proposals for pooling their 
assets in line with the published criteria and guidance. The guidance will be kept under 
review, and will be revised as circumstances change and authorities’ asset pools evolve. 

4.3 The following sections set out the process for intervention described in draft 
regulation 8.  

Determining to intervene 

4.4 The draft regulations propose to give the Secretary of State the power to intervene 
in the investment function an administering authority, if the Secretary of State has 
determined that the administering authority has failed to have regard to the regulations 
governing their investments or guidance issued under draft regulation 7(1). In reaching 
that conclusion, the Secretary of State will consider the available evidence, which might 
include: 

 Evidence that an administering authority is ignoring information on best practice, 
for example, by not responding to advice provided by the scheme advisory board 
to local pension boards. 

 Evidence that an administering authority is not following the investment regulations 
or has not had regard to guidance published by the Secretary of State under draft 
Regulation 7 (1). For example, this might include failing to participate in one of the 
large asset pools described in the existing draft guidance, or proposing a pooling 
arrangement that does not adhere to the criteria and guidance.  

Page 34



 

21 

 Evidence that an administering authority is carrying out another pension-related 
function poorly, such as an unsatisfactory report under section 13(4) of the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013, or another periodic reporting mechanism. (Section 
13(4) of the 2013 Act requires a person appointed by the Secretary of State to 
report on whether the actuarial valuation of a fund has been carried out in 
accordance with Scheme regulations, in a way that is consistent with other 
authorities’ valuations, and so that employer contribution rates are set to ensure 
the solvency and long term cost efficiency of the fund.) 

4.5 If the Secretary of State has some indication to suggest that intervention might be 
necessary, the draft regulations propose that he may order a further investigation to 
provide him with the analysis required to make a decision. If additional evidence is sought, 
draft regulation 8(5) would allow the Secretary of State to carry out such inquiries as he 
considers appropriate, including seeking advice from external experts if needed. In this 
circumstance, the administering authority would be obliged to provide any data that was 
deemed necessary to determine whether intervention is required. The authority would also 
be invited to participate in the review and would have the opportunity to present evidence 
in support of its existing or proposed investment strategy.  

The process of intervention 

4.6 If the Secretary of State is satisfied that an intervention is required, he would then 
need to determine the appropriate extent of intervention in the authority’s investment 
function. The draft regulations propose to allow the Secretary of State to draw on external 
advice to determine what the specific intervention should be if necessary.  

4.7 Draft regulation 8(2) describes the interventions that the Secretary of State may 
make. The power has been left intentionally broad to ensure that a tailored and measured 
course of action is applied, based on the circumstances of each case. For example, in 
some cases it may be appropriate to apply the intervention just to certain parts of an 
investment strategy, whereas in particularly concerning cases, more substantial action 
might be required. The proposed intervention might include, but is not limited to:  

 Requiring an administering authority to develop a new investment strategy 
statement that follows guidance published under draft Regulation 7(1). 

 Directing an administering authority to invest all or a portion of its assets in a 
particular way that more closely adheres to the criteria and guidance, for instance 
through a pooled vehicle. 

 Requiring that the investment functions of the administering authority are 
exercised by the Secretary of State or his nominee. 

 Directing the implementation of the investment strategy of the administering 
authority to be undertaken by another body. 

4.8 The Secretary of State will write to the authority outlining the proposed intervention. 
As a minimum, this proposal will include: 

 A detailed explanation of why the Secretary of State is intervening and the 
evidence used to arrive at their determination. 

Page 35



 

22 

 A clear description of the proposed intervention and how it will be implemented 
and monitored. 

 The timetable for the intervention, including the period of time until the intervention 
is formally reviewed.  

 The circumstances under which the intervention might be lifted prior to review. 

4.9 The authority will then be given time to consider the proposal and present its 
argument for any changes that it thinks should be made. If, at the end of that period an 
intervention is issued, any resulting costs, charges and expenses incurred in administering 
the fund would be met by the pension fund assets. 

Review 

4.10 As set out above, each intervention will be subject to a formal review period which 
will be set by the Secretary of State but may coincide with other cyclical events such as 
the preparation of an annual report or a triennial valuation. At the end of that period, 
progress will be assessed and the Secretary of State will decide whether to end, modify or 
maintain the current terms of the intervention, and will notify the authority of the outcome. 
The authority will also have the opportunity to make representations to the Secretary of 
State if it feels a different course of action should be followed. Throughout this period of 
intervention, the authority will be supported to improve its investment function, so that it is 
well placed to bring the intervention to an end at the first opportunity. 

4.11 The Secretary of State’s direction will include details about what is required of the 
authority in order to end the intervention, and how progress will be measured. Progress 
could, for example, be measured by creating a set of performance indicators to be 
monitored on an ongoing basis by Government officials, the local pension board, the 
scheme advisory board, or an independent body. A regime of regular formal reports to the 
Secretary of State could also be required. 

4.12 The draft regulations also allow the Secretary of State to determine that sufficient 
improvement has been made to end the intervention before the review date. The 
administering authority may also make representations to the Secretary of State before 
that date, if it has clear evidence that the prescribed action is no longer appropriate. 

Questions 

5. Are there any other sources of evidence that the Secretary of State might draw on to 
establish whether an intervention is required? 

6. Does the intervention allow authorities sufficient scope and time to present evidence in 
favour of their existing arrangements when either determining an intervention in the 
first place, or reviewing whether one should remain in place? 

7. Does the proposed approach allow the Secretary of State sufficient flexibility to ensure 
that he is able to introduce a proportionate intervention? 

Page 36



 

23 

8. Do the proposals meet the objectives of the policy, which are to allow the Secretary of 
State to make a proportionate intervention in the investment function of an 
administering authority if it has not had regard to best practice, guidance or regulation? 

Page 37



 

24 

Summary of the draft regulations 

(1) Citation, commencement and extent  

This details the citation and scope of the draft regulations, and gives the date at which they 
will come into force. 

(2) Interpretation 

These provisions define terms used in the draft regulations with reference to legislation, 
and cite the legislation that gives administering authorities the powers that may be 
impacted by the draft regulations. 

(3) Investment 

This draft regulation defines what is considered an investment for the purposes of the 
regulations. This definition includes futures, options, derivatives, limited partnerships and 
some types of insurance contracts. It also defines who a person with whom a contract of 
insurance can be entered into is. 

(4) Management of a pension fund 

This draft regulation lists the monies that an administering authority must credit to its 
pension fund, including employer and employee contributions, interest, and investment 
capital and income. It also sets out the administering authority’s responsibility to pay 
benefits entitled to members, and states that, except where prohibited by other 
regulations, costs of administering the fund can be paid by the fund. 

(5) Restriction on power to borrow 

This proposed regulation outlines the limited circumstances under which an administering 
authority can borrow money that the pension fund is liable to repay. 

(6) Separate bank account 

The draft regulation states that an administering authority must deposit all pension fund 
monies in a separate account, and lists those institutions that can act as a deposit taker.  It 
also states that the deposit taker cannot use pension fund account to set-off any other 
account held by the administering authority or a connected party. 

(7) Investment strategy statement 

This draft regulation places an obligation on the administering authority to consult on and 
publish an investment strategy statement, which must be in accordance with guidance 
from the Secretary of State. The statement should demonstrate that investments will be 
suitably diversified, and it should outline the administering authority’s maximum allocations 
for different asset classes, as well as their approach to risk and responsible investing.  

In many respects, the investment strategy statement replaces the list of restrictions given 
in Schedule 1 of the 2009 Regulations and enables the criteria to be determined at local 

Page 38



 

25 

level. Schedule 1 of the 2009 Regulations will remain in force until such time that the new 
investment strategy statements have to be published. 

Provision is made for authorities to publish their policy on the extent to which 
environmental, social and corporate governance factors are taken into account in the 
selection, retention and realisation of investments.  

Separate guidance will be issued by the Secretary of State that will clarify how the 
Government’s recent announcement on boycotts, sanctions and disinvestment will be 
exercised. 

(8) Directions by the Secretary of State 

This provision would grant the Secretary of State the power to intervene in the investment 
function of an administering authority if he is satisfied that the authority is failing to have 
regard to regulation and guidance. He can also initiate inquiries to determine if an 
intervention is warranted, and must consult with the authority concerned. Once it is 
determined that an intervention is needed, the Secretary of State can intervene by 
directing the authority undertake a broad range of actoins to remedy the situation. 

(9) Investment managers 

This draft regulation details how an administering authority must appoint external 
investment managers. 

(10) Investments under section 11(1) of the Trustee Investments Act 1961 

This draft regulation allows administering authorities to invest in Treasury-approved 
collective investment schemes. 

(11) Consequential amendments 

This proposed regulation lists the prior regulations that are amended by the draft 
amendments. 

(12) Revocations and transitional provisions 

The draft provision lists the regulations that would be revoked if the draft regulations come 
into effect. It also proposes transitional arrangements to ensure that the existing 
regulations governing the investment strategy remain in place until a new investment 
strategy statement is published by an authority under draft regulation seven. These 
transitional arrangements would apply for up to six months after the draft regulations came 
into effect.  

Page 39



 

26 

Annex A: Members of the Investment 
Regulation Review Group 

Alison Hamilton   Barnet Waddingham 

Bob Claxton   Wandsworth Pension Fund 

Clifford Sims   Squire Patton Boggs 

Dawn Turner   Environment Agency Pension Fund 

Geoff Reader   Bedford Pension Fund 

Graeme Russell  Greater Gwent Pension Fund 

Guy Sears    Investment UK 

Loretta Stowers   Greater Manchester Pension Fund 

Nick Buckland   Dorset Pension Fund 

Nigel Keogh   Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

Paul Dale    Bromley Borough Council 

Peter Morris   Greater Manchester Pension Fund 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2016 No. 0000 

PUBLIC SERVICE PENSIONS, ENGLAND AND WALES 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 

Made - - - - 2016 

Laid before Parliament 2016 

Coming into force - - 2016 

 

These Regulations are made in exercise of the powers conferred by sections 1 and 3 of, and 

Schedule 3 to, the Public Service Pensions Act 2013(a). 

In accordance with section 21 of that Act, the Secretary of State has consulted such persons and 

the representatives of such persons as appeared to the Secretary of State to be likely to be affected 

by these Regulations. 

In accordance with section 3(5) of that Act, these Regulations are made with the consent of the 

Treasury. 

The Secretary of State makes the following Regulations: 

Citation, commencement and extent 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016. 

(2) These Regulations come into force on 1st April 2016. 

(3) These Regulations extend to England and Wales. 

Interpretation 

2.—(1) In these Regulations— 

“the 2000 Act” means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000(b); 

“the 2013 Regulations” means the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013(c); 

“the Transitional Regulations” means the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional 

Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014(d); 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2013 c. 25 
(b) 2000 c.8. 
(c) S.I. 2013/2356. 
(d) S.I. 2014/525. 

Page 41



 

 2 

 “authority” means an administering authority listed in Part 1 of Schedule 3 to the 2013 

Regulations; 

“fund money” means money that is or should be in a pension fund maintained by an authority; 

“proper advice” means the advice of a person whom the authority reasonably believes to be 

qualified by their ability in and practical experience of financial matters; 

“the Scheme” means the scheme established by the 2013 Regulations. 

(2) Any restrictions imposed by these Regulations apply to authorities which have the power 

within section 1 of the Localism Act 2011(a) (local authority’s general power of competence) or 

section 5A(1) of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004(b) in the exercise of those powers. 

(3) Any authority which does not have the powers mentioned in paragraph (2) has, by virtue of 

these Regulations the power to do anything authorised or required by these Regulations. 

Investment 

3.—(1) In these Regulations “investment” and related expressions have their normal meaning. 

(2) But the following provisions of this regulation specify things which count as investments for 

these Regulations, although they might not otherwise do so, and exclude things which might 

otherwise count. 

(3) A contract entered into in the course of dealing in financial futures, traded options or 

derivatives is an investment. 

(4) A contract of insurance is an investment if it is a contract of a relevant class, and is entered 

into with a person within paragraph (5) for whom entering into the contract constitutes the 

carrying on of a regulated activity within the meaning of section 22 of the 2000 Act(c).  

(5) The persons within this paragraph are— 

(a) a person who has permission under Part 4A of the 2000 Act (permission to carry on 

regulated activities) to effect or carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class; 

(b) an EEA firm of the kind mentioned in paragraph 5(d) of Schedule 3 to the 2000 Act (EEA 

passport rights), which has permission under paragraph 15 of that Schedule(d) to effect or 

carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class; and 

(c) a person who does not fall within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) whose head office is in an EEA 

state other than the United Kingdom, and who is permitted by the law of that state to 

effect or carry out contracts of insurance of a relevant class.  

(6) A contract of insurance is of a relevant class for the purposes of paragraphs (4) and (5) if it 

is— 

(a) a contract of insurance on human life or a contract to pay an annuity on human life where 

the benefits are wholly or partly to be determined by reference to the value of, or income 

from, property of any description (whether or not specified in the contract) or by 
reference to fluctuations in, or an index of, the value of property of any description 

(whether or not so specified); or 

(b) a contract to manage the investments of pension funds, whether or not combined with 

contracts of insurance covering either conservation of capital or payment of minimum 

interest. 

(7) It is an investment to contribute to a limited partnership in an unquoted securities investment 

partnership. 

(8) For the purposes of this regulation— 

“limited partnership” has the meaning given in the Limited Partnerships Act 1907(a); 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2011 c. 20. 
(b) 2004 c. 21; section 5A was inserted by section 9(1) of the Localism Act 2011. 
(c) Section 22 was amended by section 7(1) of the Financial Services act 2012 (c.21). 
(d) Paragraph 15 was amended by S.I. 2007/126. 

Page 42



 

 3 

“recognised stock exchange” has the same meaning as in section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 

2007(b); 

“traded option” means an option quoted on a recognised stock exchange; and 

“unquoted securities investment partnership” means a partnership for investing in securities 

which are not quoted on a recognised stock exchange when the partnership buys them. 

Management of a pension fund 

4.—(1) An authority must credit to its pension fund(c), in addition to any sum otherwise 

required to be credited by virtue of the 2013 Regulations or the Transitional Regulations— 

(a) the amounts payable by it or payable to it under regulations 15(3), 67 and 68 of the 2013 

Regulations (employer’s contributions and further payments); 

(b) all amounts received under regulation 69(1)(a) of the 2013 Regulations (member 

contributions); 

(c) all income arising from investment of the fund; and 

(d) all capital money deriving from such investment. 

(2) In the case of an authority which maintains more than one pension fund, as respects sums 

which relate to specific members, the reference in paragraph (1) to the authority’s pension fund is 

to the fund which is the appropriate fund(d) for the member in question in accordance with the 

2013 Regulations. 

(3) Interest under regulation 71 of the 2013 Regulations (interest on late payments by Scheme 

employers) must be credited to the pension fund to which the overdue payment is due. 

(4) An authority must pay any benefits to which any person is entitled by virtue of the 2013 

Regulations or the Transitional Regulations from its pension fund. 

(5) Any costs, charges and expenses incurred administering a pension fund may be paid from it 

except for charges prescribed by regulations made under sections 23, 24 or 41 of the Welfare 

Reform and Pensions Act 1999(e) (charges in relation to pension sharing costs)(f). 

Restriction on power to borrow 

5.—(1) Except as provided in this regulation, an authority must not borrow money where the 

borrowing is liable to be repaid out of its pension fund.  

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), an authority may borrow by way of temporary loan or overdraft 

which is liable to be repaid out of its pension fund, any sums which it may require for the purpose 

of— 

(a) paying benefits due under the Scheme; or 

(b) to meet investment commitments arising from the implementation of a decision by it to 

change the balance between different types of investment. 

(3) An authority may only borrow money under paragraph (2) if, at the time of the borrowing, 

the authority reasonably believes that the sum borrowed and interest charged in respect of that sum 

can be repaid out of its pension fund within 90 days of the borrowing. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1907 c. 24.  
(b) 2007 c.3; section 1005 was substituted by the Finance Act 2007 (c. 11) and amended by the Taxation (International and 

Other Provisions) Act 2010 (c.8). 
(c) An administering authority is required to maintain a pension fund by regulation 53(1) of, and paragraph 1 of Schedule 3 to 

the 2013 Regulations. 
(d) See regulation 53(2) of and Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the 2013 Regulations for provisions relating to an administering 

authority becoming the “appropriate administering authority” in relation to a person.  
(e) 1999 c. 30. 
(f) See S.I. 2000/1047 and S.I. 2000/1049. 

Page 43



 

 4 

Separate bank account 

6.—(1) An authority must hold in a separate account kept by it with a deposit-taker all fund 

money. 

(2) “Deposit-taker” for the purposes of paragraph (1) means— 

(a) a person who has permission under Part 4A(a) of the 2000 Act (permission to carry on 

regulated activities) to carry on the activities specified by article 5 of the Financial 

Services and Markets Act 2000 (Regulated Activities) Order 2001 (accepting 

deposits)(b); 

(b) an EEA firm of the kind mentioned in paragraph 5(b)(c) of Schedule 3 to the 2000 Act 

(EEA passport rights) which has permission under paragraph 15 of that Schedule(d) to 

accept deposits; 

(c) the Bank of England or the central bank of an EEA state other than the United Kingdom; 

or 

(d) the National Savings Bank. 

(3) An authority must secure that the deposit-taker may not exercise a right of set-off in relation 

to the account referred to in paragraph (1) in respect of any other account held by the authority or 

any party connected to the authority. 

Investment strategy statement 

7.—(1) An authority must, after taking proper advice, formulate an investment strategy which 

must be in accordance with guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 

(2) The authority’s investment strategy must include— 

(a) a requirement to invest fund money in a wide variety of investments; 

(b) the authority’s assessment of the suitability of particular investments and types of 

investments; 

(c) the authority’s approach to risk, including the ways in which risks are to be measured and 

managed; 

(d) the authority’s approach to pooling investments, including the use of collective 

investment vehicles and shared services; 

(e) the authority’s policy on how social, environmental or corporate governance 

considerations are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and 

realisation of investments; and 

(f) the authority’s policy on the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to 

investments. 

(3) The authority’s investment strategy must set out the maximum percentage of the total value 

of all investments of fund money that it will invest in particular investments or classes of 

investment. 

(4) The authority’s investment strategy may not permit more than 5% of the total value of all 

investments of fund money to be invested in entities which are connected with that authority 

within the meaning of section 212 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007(e). 

(5) The authority must consult such persons as it considers appropriate as to the contents of its 

investment strategy. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) Part 4A was inserted by section 11 of the Financial Services Act 2012 (c. 21). 
(b) S.I. 2001/544; article 5 was amended by S.I. 2002/682. 
(c) Sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph (5) was substituted by S.I. 2006/3211 and then further substituted by S.I. 2013/3115. 
(d) Paragraph 15 has been amended by S.I. 2003/2066, S.I. 2007/3253, 2012/1906 and 2013/1881. 
(e) 2007 c. 28; section 212 was amended by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (c. 13) and there are 

prospective amendments made by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (c. 2). 

Page 44



 

 5 

(6) The authority must publish a statement of its investment strategy formulated under paragraph 

(1) and the first such statement must be published no later than 1st October 2016. 

(7) The authority must review and if necessary revise its investment strategy from time to time, 

and at least every 3 years, and publish a statement of any revisions.  

(8) The authority must invest, in accordance with its investment strategy, any fund money that is 

not needed immediately to make payments from the fund.  

Directions by the Secretary of State 

8.—(1) This regulation applies in relation to an authority’s investment functions under these 

Regulations and the 2013 Regulations if the Secretary of State is satisfied that the authority is 

failing to have regard to guidance issued under regulation 7(1) (investment strategy statement). 

(2) Where this regulation applies in relation to an authority the Secretary of State may issue a 

direction requiring all or any of the following— 

(a) that the authority make such changes to its investment strategy under regulation 7 as the 

Secretary of State considers appropriate, within a period of time specified in the direction; 

(b) that the authority invest such assets or descriptions of assets as are specified in the 

direction in such manner as is specified in the direction; 

(c) that the investment functions of the authority under these Regulations and under the 2013 

Regulations be exercised by the Secretary of State or a person nominated by the Secretary 

of State for a period specified in the direction or for so long as the Secretary of State 

considers appropriate; 

(d) that the authority comply with any instructions of the Secretary of State or the Secretary 

of State’s  nominee in relation to the exercise of its investment functions under these 

Regulations and the 2013 Regulations and provide such assistance as the Secretary of 

State or the Secretary of State’s nominee may require for the purpose of exercising those 

functions. 

(3) Before making a decision whether to issue a direction under this regulation, and as to the 

contents of any direction, the Secretary of State must consult the authority concerned. 

(4) In reaching a decision whether to issue a direction under this regulation, and as to the 

contents of any direction, the Secretary of State must have regard to such evidence of the manner 

in which the authority is discharging or proposes to discharge its investment functions as is 

reasonably available including— 

(a) any report from an actuary appointed under section 13(4) of the Public Service Pensions 

Act 2013 (employer contributions in funded schemes) or by the authority under section 

62 of the 2013 Regulations (actuarial valuations of pension funds); 

(b) any report from the local pension board appointed by the authority or from the Local 

Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board(a); 

(c) any representations made by the authority in response to the consultation under paragraph 

(3);  

(d) any other evidence available that the Secretary of State regards as relevant to whether the 

authority has been complying with these regulations or acting in accordance with 

guidance issued under regulation 7(1) (investment strategy statement). 

(5) If the Secretary of State is of the opinion that additional information is required to enable a 

decision to be taken whether to issue a direction under this regulation, or as to what any direction 

should contain, the Secretary of State may carry out such inquiries as the Secretary of State 

considers appropriate to obtain that information. 

(6) An authority must co-operate with any request from the Secretary of State intended to 

facilitate the obtaining of information under paragraph (5). 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) The Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board is established under regulation 110 of the 2013 Regulations 

(which was inserted by S.I. 2015/57). 

Page 45



 

 6 

Investment managers 

9.—(1) Instead of managing and investing fund money itself, an authority may appoint one or 

more investment managers to manage and invest fund money, or any part of such money, on its 

behalf. 

(2) The authority must reasonably believe that the investment manager’s ability in and practical 

experience of financial matters make that investment manager suitably qualified to make 

investment decisions for it. 

(3) The authority must take proper advice in relation to the appointment and the terms on which 

the appointment is made. 

Investments under section 11(1) of the Trustee Investments Act 1961 

10. An authority to which section 11 of the Trustee Investments Act 1961(a) applies may invest, 

without any restriction as to quantity, in any investment made in accordance with a scheme under 

section 11(1) of that Act (which enables the Treasury to approve schemes for local authorities to 

invest in collectively). 

Consequential amendments 

11.—(1) The 2013 Regulations are amended as follows. 

(2) For regulation 57(1)(a) (pension fund annual report) substitute— 

“(i) the current version of the investment strategy under regulation 7 (investment 

strategy statement) of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016;”. 

(3) For regulation 58(4)(b) (funding strategy statement) substitute— 

“(b) the statement of the administering authority’s investment strategy published under 

regulation 7 (investment strategy statement) of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.”. 

(4) For regulation 69(2)(b) (payment by Scheme employers to administering authorities) 

substitute— 

“(b) paragraph (1)(c) does not apply where the cost of the administration of the fund is 

paid out of the fund under regulation 4(5) (management of a pension fund) of the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 

Regulations 2016.”. 

Revocations and transitional provision 

12.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 

Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009(b) and the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) (Amendment) Regulations 2013(c) are revoked. 

(2) Regulations 11 (investment policy and investment of pension fund money), 12 (statement of 

investment principles), 14 (restrictions on investments), 15 (requirements for increased limits) of 

and Schedule 1 (table of limits on investments) to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 continue to have effect in relation to an 

authority until the date when that authority publishes its investment strategy statement under 

regulation 7(1) (investment strategy statement). 

(3) For the period starting on 1st April 2016 and ending on whichever is the earlier of the date 

the authority publishes its investment strategy statement under regulation 7 (investment strategy 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1961 c. 62; section 11(1) was amended by the London Government Act 1963 (c. 4)  and the Local Government Act 1985  
(c. 51). 
(b) S.I. 2009/3093. 
(c) S.I. 2013/410. 

Page 46



 

 7 

statement), or 30th September 2016, Regulation 7 applies to an authority only to the extent 

necessary to enable that authority to formulate and  publish its investment strategy statement.  

 

 

 

 

We consent to the making of these Regulations 

 

 

 Names 
Date Two of the Lords Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury 

 

 

Signed by authority of the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

 

 Name 

 Parliamentary Under Secretary of State 

Date Department for Communities and Local Government 

  

 

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes -
	6 Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment Reform- Criteria and Guidance
	7 Consultation on Revoking and Replacing the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009
	Consultation on investment reform
	draft LGPS Investment Regulations - 2016


